FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/19/2018 1:02 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK



95485-2

No. 76260-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN PATRICK OSMAN, Respondent

v.

TINA ANNELISE SCHMIDT, Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

H. Michael Finesilver (f/k/a Fields) Attorney for Appellant

207 E. Edgar Street Seattle, WA 98102 (206) 322-2060 W.S.B.A. #5495

ORIGINAL

filed via

I. Identity of Petitioner

Tina Schmidt, Appellant below.

II. Decision Below

In Re E.G.S., John Patrick Osman, Resp v. Tina Annelise Schmidt, Appellant, Case #76260-5-I, filed December 22, 2016 (see **Appendix 1**).

III. Issues Presented for Review

- A. As to the modification of the Georgia parenting plan order that eliminates a provision that requires each parent to make their child available to family members of the other parent on his or her residential time:
 - 1. Is an order which the court would not have had the authority to impose on parties, enforceable if entered by agreement of the parties?
 - 2. Is a fit parent, who petitions to modify a provision in an agreed final parenting plan order that placed restrictions on the exercise of his rights during his residential time relieved of fulfilling the burden of proof required under RCW 26.09.260(10) in order to eliminate that restriction?
 - 3. Does a trial court in a parenting plan modification proceeding, have the authority to determine that a provision of a final parenting plan order entered by agreement of both parties as "appropriate" because it restricts the exercise of a fit parent's fundamental right under the Constitution of the United States, to decide whether and with whom his child will have contact?
 - 4. Is a trial court absolved of the mandate to render findings of fact and conclusions of law as to whether a

substantial change of circumstances that render elimination of the provision as being in the best interests of the child under RCW 26.09.260(10), before it can eliminate such a provision in an order modifying the original parenting plan order?

B. As to modification of the provision of the Georgia parenting plan order that imbues Tina Schmidt with sole decision-making authority over educational and health care issues:

- 1. Does a pre-trial stipulation that adequate cause has been established as to each parent's petition to modify, absolve the court of the requirement of RCW 26.09.270 to hear evidence before it can modify the provision?
- 2. Are the changes of circumstance that justify modification of the residential schedule under RCW 26.09.260 (5) the same as those necessary to justify modification of a parent's decision-making authority under RCW 26.09.260 (10)?
- 3. Do findings of fact that support conclusions of law under that a substantial change of circumstances has occurred that justify the modification of the residential provisions of the Georgia parenting plan order under RCW 26.09.260(5), absolve the court of the mandate to render material findings of fact and conclusions of law related to decision-making authority under RCW 26.09.260 (10)?

IV. Statement of the Case

Tina Schmidt seeks acceptance by this court of review of a Court of Appeals decision that affirmed a trial court order that modifies an agreed final parenting plan order entered during trial in a parentage proceeding in Atlanta Georgia. The parties have one child together, Ella Grace Schmidt born on June 17, 2011 in Atlanta, Georgia (RP 146 and

149; (Ex. 4, page 1). The agreement reached as to a final parenting plan order was signed by the parties, their legal counsel and the court on March 25, 2014. (Ex. 3, page 4).

The agreed parenting plan order included the following provisions pertinent to the modification proceeding that occurred in the Superior Court of King County. It contained two separate residential schedules, one for when each of the parents lived within the Atlanta metropolitan area; the other, should Tina relocate with Ella to King County, Washington, which the order permitted her to do. (Ex. 4, page 2).

During the trial in the Atlanta proceeding a GAL, Dr. Howard Drutman, testified about John's opposition to Tina's refusal to allow Ella to ever be vaccinated. (RP 80 - 81). Nevertheless the agreed order contained a provision giving Tina sole decision making authority over health care and educational issues. (Ex. 3, pages 4-5).

Drutman testified as to Tina's concerns, as well as his own, about John's recreational use of marijuana and alcohol as well as concerns over Tina's use of prescription painkillers. (RP 256). The final order contained

¹ Both parties agreed during the trial of this proceeding to be referred to by their first names (RP 86). For ease of reference the same will be done in this brief.

a provision requiring each party was to undergo random drug testing for a period of one year.

The order also contained the following provision that was not the subject of either parent's subsequent petition for modification but was eliminated in its entirety by the trial court over objection of Tina. Hereinafter the provision for ease of reference will be referred to as the "extended family" provision.

"In the event that the Father's family is in the Mother's city of residence, the Mother shall accommodate the Father's family so that they can see the Child so long as the Child is in town.

In the event that the Mother's family is in the Father's city of residence or in Chicago with the minor child, the Father shall accommodate the Mother's family so that they can see the Child so long as the Child is in town." (slip op, page 2).

Tina relocated with Ella to Federal Way, Washington in May of 2014. (Ex. 3, page 3). During the summer of 2015 she purchased real property in Port Orchard with a view toward living there. (RP 254). Since it needed extensive remodeling to be habitable, she and Ella were not able to move in until May 2016. (CP 35; RP 255). John relocated to South Seattle the day after Thanksgiving, on November 27, 2015. (RP 177; Ex. 3, page 3).

John filed a petition for modification seeking a new residential schedule (Ex. 24, page 4) and for joint decision-making authority over health and educational issues. (CP 34). His petition did not seek elimination of the "extended family" provision. (Ex. 24, page 5; Ex. 3, pages 3-4).

Earlier that year, John's ex-girlfriend revealed that the month after the drug testing requirement had ended, John had taken Ella to a marijuana dispensary in King County, and began smoking marijuana on a regular basis. Tina had filed a petition for modification in Atlanta, which she had to dismiss after John moved to Seattle. Her response to his petition included a counter-petition to modify, in which she requested that his residential time be conditioned upon the resumption of random drug testing and that he be made to follow all treatment protocols. She opposed modification of her sole decision making authority. (Ex. 25).

During the pendency of the King County proceeding, after the petition and counter-petition had been filed and served, the parties entered into two CR 2a agreements achieved through separate mediation sessions in which each party was represented by legal counsel. Those agreements included a residential schedule that accommodated Tina's relocation to Port Orchard with Ella to occur a few months later; that adequate cause to

hear John's petition and Tina's counter-petition had been established; that random drug testing for John resume, with a fallback provision requiring professionally supervised residential contact should he fail the testing or fail to obtain it. The "extended family" provision of the Atlanta final order was expanded to include Tina making Ella available to John's relatives should Ella be in Chicago with her. (Exs. 27 and 28).

The parties also hired Dr. Wendy Hutchins Cook as parenting evaluator. (RP 24). Each party's proposals to the trial court as to a final residential schedule were nearly identical. The residential schedules adopted by the court were not an issue on the appeal.

During trial, John submitted a proposed order of modification which eliminated the entire "extended family" provision. This prompted Tina to testify as to why she opposed elimination of it. (RP 94 and 95). John did not present any testimony at trial supporting elimination of the provision (Ex. 24).

The trial court granted John's requested modifications as to decision-making authority and eliminated the "extended family" provision in its entirety although it made no findings or conclusions of law regarding that decision. (CP 94-95). The Court of Appeals affirmed. A timely motion to reconsider was denied. As part of the motion the court was asked to

publish the aspect of the decision related to the extended family provision whether or not reconsideration was to be granted. That motion too was denied. The Court denied that motion on December 19, 2017. This petition followed.

V. Argument:

A. Elimination of The "Extended Family" Provision.

 The Decision Is In Direct Conflict With The Following Court of Appeals Decisions: Kinnan v. Jordan, 131 Wa App 738 at 752, 129 P.3d 807 (2006), In re Marriage of Stern, 57 Wa App 707, 711, 789 P.2d 807, rev denied, 115 Wa 2d 1013, 707 P.2d 513 (1990), and In re Marriage of Shyrock, 76 Wa App 848 at 852, 888 P.2d 750 (1995): RAP 13.4(b)(2)

The "extended family" provision of the Georgia final parenting plan order is a restriction on the exercise of each parent's residential time with their child. "Removal of a restriction on residential time is governed by RCW 26.09.260 (10)". *Kinnan v. Jordan, supra* at 747 (2006). The Court of Appeals decision is directly contrary to the following holdings:

"RCW 26.09.260 (10) requires proof of a substantial change in circumstances and that the removal of the restriction is in the best interests of the child." *Kinnan v. Jordan, supra* at 755 (2006). John presented no evidence at trial regarding elimination of the provision.

"Compliance with the statutory criteria is mandatory. Failure of a trial court to make findings that reflect the application of each relevant factor is error." Kinnan v. Jordan supra, at 752, following the holding in In re Marriage of Stern, 57 Wa App 707, 711, 789 P.2d 807, rev denied, 115 Wa 2d 1013, 707 P.2d 513 (1990). (See also, In re Marriage of Shyrock, 76 Wa App 848 at 852, 888 P.2d 750 (1995).

The trial court made no findings of fact nor conclusions of law related to elimination of the provision. Thus, pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (2) this court should grant review.

2. There Is A Significant Issue of Law Under The United States Constitution: RAP 13(b)(3)

The Court of Appeals decision holds that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to follow the mandates of RCW 26.09.260 since that provision of the Georgia order was "inappropriate". (slip op page 8). The court of appeals held that the order was inappropriate because it restricts John's fundamental right as a fit parent, under the U.S. Constitution, to determine whether and with whom their child will associate during his residential time, citing *Troxel v. Granville*, 530 U.S. 57, 72, 120 S. Ct. 2054, 147 L. Ed. 2d 49 (2000). (See slip op page 8).

Troxel, supra, was a case arising from the Supreme Court of the State of Washington that involved a court order that granted a grandparent, visitation rights with a child opposed by a fit parent. The order was reversed since it was based upon Washington's third party visitation statute which the court deemed unconstitutional. That case did not involve elimination of an order that places custodial restrictions on a fit parent entered by agreement of that parent. Thus, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3), this court should accept review since the Court of Appeals decision squarely presents a significant question of law under the Constitution of the United States.

3. The Decision Is In Direct Conflict With The Supreme Court Decision, State v. MacDonald, 183 Wa2d 1, 346 P.3d 748 (2015): RAP 13.4(b)(1), In re Marriage of Glass 67 WaApp 378, 835 P.2d 1054 (1992), and In re Marriage of Kennard 176 Wa app 678, 310 P.3d 845 (2013).

The "extended family" provision of the agreed final order was not superimposed by the Atlanta trial court over objection of a party. The provision restricting the exercise of their fundamental rights as fit parents was imposed by the parties on themselves because their child's relationship with their respective extended family members was important enough to each of them to protect it as a court order. The decision of the

Court of Appeals is in direct conflict with this court's decision in *State v. MacDonald*, 183 Wa2d 1 at 9, 346 P.3d 748 (2015) which holds that agreements to forego a fundamental right under the U.S. Constitution are to be enforced especially where the party who does so receives a reciprocal benefit.

Here, both parties received a reciprocal benefit: the obligation of each to make their child available to the relatives of the other should any of them be in the city of residence of residence of the other while the child is there, during the other parent's residential time or John in Chicago with Ella.

The decision is also in conflict with Court of Appeals decisions that hold that agreed orders in modification proceedings that are beyond the authority of a trial court to impose on parties are valid and to be enforced if entered by agreement of the parties. A court has no authority to impose an order that renders spousal maintenance non-modifiable, but agreed orders to do so are to be enforced. In re Marriage of Glass, supra at 390-392 (1992). A court cannot impose a spousal maintenance escalator clause based upon the consumer price index or strictly related to increases or decreases in income. (see In re Marriage of Coyle, 61 Wa App 653, 811 P.2d 244 (1991). However, In re Marriage of Kennard supra at 687

(2013) holds that agreed orders that impose such obligations are valid and enforceable. Parties have the right to do to themselves what courts cannot otherwise impose on them.

Since the "extended family" provision of the Georgia final parenting order was entered by agreement of the parties, with the benefit of their trial counsel, the decision is directly contrary to the principles established in *Glass, supra* and *Kennard, supra*. Thus, the decision implicates RAP 13.4(b)(2). Review should be accepted.

4. The Decision Involves An Issue of Significant Public Interest Under: RAP 13.4(b)(4)

The decision treats the "extended family" provision as being "inappropriate" ab initio. That conclusion was based upon *Troxel v. Granville, supra*, which involved an order imposed by a trial court constituted placed a restriction upon the fundamental right of a fit mother to determine whether the child could have any contact with the third party grandmother. Since *Troxel v. Granville*, *supra* was handed down, the void created by the state legislature's failure to come up with a substitute third party visitation statute, has resulted in a hobson's choice for trial courts, and parties in the numerous instances state wide, in which a parent, unfit, due to neglect, abuse, psychoses, drug or alcohol addiction, loses the child

who subsequently forms a nurturing psychological bond with a third party, usually a relative such as a grandparent, who provides daily care, health and security.

The hobson's choice arises over what to do when that parent becomes fit prior to a final custody determination. In those cases, trial is a zero sum game. Courts cannot deprive a parent who may have been unfit, but who proves fitness when the custody determination is to occur. Trial courts are left with no choice but to take the child away from that third party who may have been that child's only source of love and security, in some cases for most of the child's life. The court has no authority to enter an order that protects the relationship. There are only two exceptions. One is proof of "actual detriment" to the child.

However, actual detriment is defined as extra-ordinary circumstances in which the child has special needs that a fit parent cannot fulfill that the third party can. The prospect of the loss of that bond because the fit parent who may not allow any contact at all, does not fulfill the actual detriment exception. (See, *In re Custody of Shields*, 157 Wa2d 126 at 145, 136 P.3d 117 (2006), *In re Custody of B.M.H.*, 179 Wa2d 224 at 238, 315 P.3d 470 (2013); *In re Custody of A.L.D.*, 191 Wa App 474 at 494, 363 P.3d 604 (2015).

In, In re Custody of J.E., 189 Wa App 175 at 185, 356 P.3d 233 (2015) an award of residential time to an aunt with whom the child had lived for nearly ten years since age 2 was reversed as against her mother who demonstrated fitness since the child had no special needs.

The only vehicle left to well-intentioned parents and third parties to achieve a win-win scenario for the child, is the one remedy a trial court has no authority to impose: entry of an agreed order that provides for legally enforceable rights of visitation time to the third party.

With the amendment to GR 14.1 allowing for unpublished decisions to be cited in briefs and memoranda, there is a real danger that restrictions to a fit parent, such as agreeing in a final order to contact between the child and the only caretaker to provide nurturing love and security, might not be enforceable from the moment the ink is dry on that order. The holding is a disincentive to the entry of such creative solutions, as, for example, as occurred in one case that was recently before the court of appeals (see **Appendix 1**). The public interest involved should warrant this court accepting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Failure To Render Findings As To A Substantial Change of Circumstances Related To Decision-Making Authority Over Health Care and Education

1. The Decision That A Stipulation That Adequate Cause Has Been Met Absolves The Trial Court Of Rendering Material Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law Under RCW 26.09.260 Is Directly Contrary To In re Marriage of Jefferson, 154 Wa App 1038, 210 WL 532423 (2010) and Kinnan v. Jordan, 131 Wa App 738 at 752, 129 P.3d 807 (2006).

The Court of Appeals decision holds that a stipulation as to adequate cause relieves a party of his or her burden of proof under RCW 26.09.260. Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (2) that decision is in direct conflict with the holding in the unpublished decision of *In re Marriage of Jefferson*, 154 Wa App 1038, 210 WL 532423 (2010) which held that a stipulation as to adequate cause does not relieve the party of presenting at trial evidence that fulfills the burden of proof under RCW 26.09.260. The Court of Appeals concluded that the holding in *In re Marriage of Naval*, 43 Wa App 839, 844-845, 719 P.2d 1349 (1986) supports its conclusion. However the court's decision reflects a misreading of *Naval*, *supra*.

The CR2A agreement acknowledging that adequate cause had been demonstrated pertained to both Mr. Osman's petition and to Ms. Schmidt's counter petition by specific reference to both. (Ex. 27, 28). Adequate cause is not equivalent to a summary judgment. RCW 26.09.270 simply indicates that if adequate cause is established the case must be set for "a hearing" meaning a trial.

Naval, supra involved an agreement that a substantial change in circumstances had occurred related to modifications of residential time. Mr. Naval challenged the jurisdiction of the court under RCW 26.09.260 and cited cases that hold to the proposition that agreement had no legal force since parties cannot by agreement convey subject matter jurisdiction to a court that lacks it under RCW 26.09.260. Naval, supra at 841.

The court of appeals held that since the statute is not jurisdictional, and since the court had jurisdiction, the agreement was binding. The implications of agreements under RCW 26.09.270 was not at issue.

The agreement in *Naval*, *supra*, that a substantial change exists, was in effect is a summary judgment as to the ultimate issue authorizing the court to modify the existing plan. That is not the same as an agreement that merely acknowledges adequate cause. The Court of Appeals' decision erroneously treats both agreements as being synonymous in legal effect.

An agreement that acknowledges adequate cause under RCW 26.09.270 is merely a waiver of the need and expense of an adequate cause hearing. Tina never denied that adequate cause existed as to modifications of the residential time awarded in the Atlanta order. Nor did she ever acknowledge that modification of decision making authority was warranted. Her response denied that request, and her counter petition

sought a reduction of residential time due to his acknowledged use of marijuana that was deemed a problem in the Atlanta proceeding and which resumed after a year of random U.A.'s.

The decision that a stipulation as to adequate cause compels a modification is also in direct contradiction to the holding that the failure to require evidence to support the requested modification is error. *Kinnan v. Jordan, supra* at 752 (2006).

2. Failing To Reverse For Want of Findings of Fact Material To The Elimination of the Sole Decision-making Provision of the Georgia Final Parenting Plan Order is in direct conflict with the holding in Kinnan v. Jordan, supra at 752 (2006); In re Marriage of Stern, supra at 711 (1990), and In re Marriage of Shyrock, supra at 852 (1995)

The trial court found that John's geographic relocation to Seattle, was a substantial change of circumstances that justified a modification of his residential time under RCW 26.09.260(5). But those changes of circumstance did not implicate any modifications of the requirements of decision-making authority governed by RCW 26.09.260(10). The court of appeals held that proof fulfilling the standards required under (5) necessarily relieves a party of the responsibility of demonstrating those governed by (10), and thereby relieves the trial court as to its obligation to make material findings under (10). However, Tina had sole decision

making authority whether they both remained in the same community (Atlanta) or whether they lived in different states.

The Court of Appeals observed, that RCW 26.09.260 does not require a particularized finding of a substantial changes of circumstances as to any particular provision of a parenting plan a party wishes to modify. (See slip op page 5). For example, it is one thing to observe that subsection (5) of the statute pertaining to minor modifications of residential time, does not require separate findings of changed circumstances as to the different provisions of a parenting plan order governing, residential time during the school year, as distinguished from holidays, and then school vacations, etc. To so require would be superfluous.

However, it is quite another thing to conclude that satisfaction of one sub-section of RCW 26.09.260(5) which are related to minor modifications of residential schedules, precludes the need to prove the requirements of sub-section (10) of the statute which governs modifications of provisions not related to residential time. For example a final parenting order that finds a history of acts of domestic violence cannot require mutual decision-making under RCW 26.09.191(1), even if there is no fear that it will occur at the time the order is entered. See *In re*

Marriage of Caven, 136 Wash.2d 800, 966 P.2d 1247 (1998). A geographic relocation that was then unanticipated would be a substantial change in circumstances warranting a minor modification of residential time under RCW 26.09.260(5). Under the Court of Appeals decision in this case a trial court could award a modification to require mutual decision making under RCW 26.09.260(10) without the need to prove what circumstances have changed that pertain to decision making authority.

That holding is in direct contradiction to the principle that compliance with the statutory criteria under the governing sub-section of RCW 26.09.260 is "mandatory", otherwise the trial court has no authority to modify. In re Marriage of Shyrock, supra at 852 (1995). It is also in direct contradiction to the principle that the failure to render material findings as to what constitutes a substantial change in circumstances is reversible error. Kinnan v. Jordan, supra at 752 (2006) and In re Marriage of Stern, supra at 711 (1990). Therefore, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) this court should accept review.

Therefore this court should grant this petition and accept review.

VI. Conclusion

Pursuant to the considerations demonstrated under RAP 13.4 this court is asked to grant this petition and accept review.