SUPREME COURT No. 95485-2

No. 76260-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:

JOHN PATRICK OSMAN,

Respondent

V.

TINA ANNELISE SCHMIDT,

Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW TO WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Philip C. Tsai, WSBA #27632

TSAI LAW COMPANY, PLLC 2101 4th Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, WA 98121 Phone: (206) 728-8000

Fax: (206) 728-6869

Attorneys for Respondent, John Patrick Osman

FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

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

V. Argument

A. Elimination of the Non Agreed Extended Family Provision.

² Mr. Osman signed a subjoined declaration under penalty of perjury incorporating this objection and all facts therein into his sworn declaration.

1. The Decision Is Not In Direct Conflict With: <u>Kinnan v. Jordan</u>, 131 Wn.App 738 (2006); <u>Marriage of Stern</u>, 57 Wn.App. 171, rev denied, 115 Wn.2d 1013, or Marriage of Shyrock, 76 Wn.App 848 (1995).

John disagrees that the agreed provision contained in the Georgia decree is a "restriction" requiring modification pursuant to RCW 26.09.260(10). In Kinnan v. Jordan, supra, the trial court imposed an RCW 26.09.191 restriction on the mother prohibiting her from allowing her then boyfriend, who had plead guilty to communication with a minor for immoral purposes, from having unsupervised contact with her children. The trial court modified the parenting plan by striking the restriction without finding adequate cause pursuant to RCW 26.09.270. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's ruling indicating that to remove the restriction that as imposed pursuant to RCW 26.09.191, an determination of adequate cause was necessary.

The instant case is distinguishable from <u>Kinnan</u>, supra. Specifically, John <u>agreed</u> while living in Georgia to the provision that each parent would permit the other parents' family to see the child if the other parents' family were in the city of residence or in Chicago for the father and the parties stipulated to adequate cause to modify. There was no restriction mandated by the Court on John's residential time pursuant to RCW 26.09.191 as there was with the mother in <u>Kinnan</u>, *supra*.

However, once John relocated to Washington, he no longer agreed to that provision. John filed a Petition to Modify the Parenting Plan and the parties stipulated to adequate cause to proceed with the modification. A trial court may rely upon stipulations of the parties and does not err in failing to independently evaluate whether modification was appropriate.

See Marriage of Naval, 43 Wn.App. 839, 719 P.2d 1349 (1986). John's proposed Parenting Plan asked the court to remove the provision regarding extended family as he no longer agreed to this provision in the modified parenting plan. As the Court of Appeals concluded, the modification statute does not require a particularized finding that a change of circumstance must be found as to any individual provision of a parenting plan which a parent wishes to be modified. RCW 26.09.260(1), (10). Once the necessary threshold determination is made, the entire order is before the court for modification.

Contrary to Tina's contention, the decision is not in conflict with any other Court of Appeals decision and this Court should deny review.

2. This Case Does Not Present A Significant Issue of Law Under The United States Constitution.

Contrary to Tina's contention, this case does not present a significant issue of law under the United States Constitution. The Court of Appeals decision cited <u>Troxel v. Granville</u>, 530 U.S. 57, 120 S. Ct.

2054 (2000) for the proposition that the court recognizes the fundamental rights of parents to decide their children's visitation with third parties. In <u>Troxel</u>, *supra*, it was the grandparents who were petitioning the court for rights to see their grandchildren and the US Supreme Court held Washington's third party visitation statute (RCW 26.09.240) unconstitutional.

In the instant case, the court determined that pursuant to John's objection to the formerly agreed provision in the Georgia custody decree that it would be err to include said provision in the modified final Parenting Plan. Specifically, because the court recognized John's fundamental right to decide who will spend time with his daughter during his time, it would be inappropriate to include a court ordered and mandated provision requiring John to give his time to Tina's relatives. Application or extending the holding or rule of law in Troxel, suppra, to the facts of this case does not rise to the level of a significant issue of law under the US Constitution. Therefore, John asks the court to deny Tina's request to accept review.

3. The Decision Is Not In Direct Conflict With The Supreme Court Decision, State v. MacDonald, 183 Wn.2d 1, (2015); RAP 13.4(b)(1), Marriage of Glass, 67 Wn.App 378 (1992) and Marriage of Kennard, 176 Wn.App 678 (2013).

Contrary to Tina's contention, the Court of Appeals decision is not in direct conflict with MacDonald, supra, Glass, supra or Kennard, supra, or any other Supreme Court or other Court of Appeals decisions. In this case, John and Tina had agreed to the provision at issue while they were in Georgia working under the final Georgia custody decree. After Tina decided to relocate to Washington, John followed to Washington so he could be closer to his daughter and have a greater impact on her life. John initially attempted to work out an agreement with Tina, but she refused, requiring him to file a Petition for Modification of Parenting Plan. It is John's petition for modification of the parenting plan and the modification trial that occurred that distinguishes this case from Tina's argument regarding the holdings in MacDonald, supra, Glass, supra or Kennard, supra.

After John filed his Petition for Modification, the parties stipulated to adequate cause for the matter to proceed to trial. John's proposed parenting plan asked the court to strike the provision requiring each parent to give residential time to the other parent's relatives. In John's response to Tina's request for reconsideration, John pointed out he has limited vacation time with Ella and that including said provision would also work to Ella's detriment as it may require unnecessary time in

the car for transportation during his vacations when explaining why the provision is not in Ella's best interest.

Under the circumstances described above, the court properly eliminated the provision requiring each parent to provide residential time to the other parents' family pursuant to John's petition to modify the Parenting Plan. John asks this Court to deny Tina's request to accept review.

4. The Decision Does Not Involve An Issue Of Significant Public Interest As Claimed By Tina.

Contrary to Tina's contention, the Court of Appeals decision does not hold that agreements between parents regarding issues which the court is not able to impose upon parents due to statutory constraints are void ab initio. In her effort to try and convince this court to accept review, she has grossly misstated the holding of the decision. The decision in this case provides that it would be inappropriate, to include a provision in a final parenting plan that grants visitation to third parties over the objection of one of the parents in a parenting plan modification proceeding. The decision does not state that agreements among parents which are contrary to the trial court's ability to fashion a parenting plan that is in the best interests of a child are void ab initio. Because the

decision does not involve an issue of significant public interest, Tina's request for this court to accept review should be denied.

- B. The Trial Court Properly Rendered Findings As To A Substantial Change Of Circumstances Related To Decision-Making Authority Over Health Care and Education.
 - 1. The Court Of Appeals Decision Does Not Hold That Stipulating To Adequate Cause Absolves The Trial Court of Rendering Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law pursuant to RCW 26.09.260 And Therefore Is Not Contrary To The Holdings In Marriage of Jefferson, 154 Wn.App. 1038 (2010) Or Kinnan v. Jordan, 131 Wn.App. 738 (2006).

Contrary to Tina's contention, the Court of Appeals decision does not hold that parties who stipulate to adequate cause are not required to meet their burden of proof of substantially changed circumstances and the best interests of the child pursuant to RCW 26.09.260. The decision in this case merely acknowledges that the parties stipulated to adequate cause that the Georgia parenting plan needed to be modified and that once that determination was made, the court was within its discretion to modify any provision of the parenting plan. The court's citation to Marriage of Naval, 43 Wn.App. 839 (1986) was to establish that the trial court may rely on agreements of the parties (adequate cause) without evaluating whether the facts independently meet the requirement to modify. In this case, John and Tina stipulated to adequate cause meaning

that they both agreed that there were facts that constituted a substantial change of circumstances which is the necessary criteria for modifying the parenting plan in the child's best interests. The decision does not reflect a misreading of Naval, supra, as claimed by Tina because the decision does not equate the stipulation for adequate cause to the equivalent of meeting the statutory criteria to modify set forth in RCW 26.09.260. Otherwise, what would be the purpose of presenting evidence at a trial. The court properly applied the requirements of RCW 26.09.260 after concluding that the parties had stipulated to adequate cause pursuant to RCW 26.09.270 when rendering findings of fact and conclusions of law in the best interests of the child.

2. The Decision to Affirm Was Proper In Light Of The Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding Decision Making Authority And Dr. Hutchins-Cook's Findings As Adopted By The Court And Is Not In Conflict With Kinnan v. Jordan, supra, or Marriage of Shyrock, supra.

The trial court found there was a substantial change of circumstances regarding John's decision to relocate from Georgia to Washington to modify both the residential provisions in the parenting plan pursuant to RCW 26.09.260(5) and the non residential provisions including the decision making authority enumerated in RCW 26.09.260(10). Contrary to Tina's contention, the appellate court did not

hold that evidence fulfilling the modification of the residential provisions in the parenting plan relieved the trial court of the obligation to make findings to modify the non residential provisions. The appellate court rightfully indicated that after an adequate cause determination, the trial court does not commit error when addressing any provision in the parenting plan without making a change of circumstance finding particular to each provision. The appellate court focused on the non residential provisions in the parenting plan because the residential provisions were not contested at trial. Specifically, the trial court found that the act of John relocating to Washington from Georgia was a substantial change of circumstances that satisfied both modification of the residential provisions (which the court modified from the Georgia decree), as well as satisfying the non residential provisions, i.e., decision making authority for non emergency health care and education.

For example, Paragraph 3 of the Findings specifically address RCW 26.09.260(5) regarding the minor modification to the residential schedule. Regarding RCW 26.09.260(5), the trial court found in part:

... To be closer to his daughter, the Petitioner relocated to the state of Washington in November of 2015. The Petitioner's relocation to Washington is a substantial change of circumstances justifying modification of the Georgia Parenting Plan which only contains provisions for both

parties either residing in Georgia or the Respondent residing in Washington that he Petitioner residing in Georgia. ...

Regarding RCW 26.09.260(10), the non residential provisions in the parenting plan, the trial court found in Paragraph 6:

6. Other Changes (RCW 26.09.260(10))

Because of a substantial change in one parent's/child's situation, the court approves changes to the following parts of the *Parenting Plan* or *Residential Schedule* that are in the children's best interest (check all that apply):

⊠ dispute resolution

✓ decision-making

transportation arrangements

other (specify): educational decisions

Tina has equated the appellate court's decision that no error is committed by the trial court by addressing any provision in the parenting plan without making a particularized change of circumstance finding to her contention that the trial court is absolved from making a finding of changed circumstances whatsoever. That is not the ruling of the appellate court. It is clear from the trial court's findings as well as the appellate court's decision that John's moving from Georgia to Washington satisfied both the substantial change of circumstances prong of subsection (5) and subsection (10) of RCW 26.09.260. Therefore, Tina's comparisons of this case to the holdings in Marriage of Caven, 136 Wn.2d 800 (1998),

Marriage of Shyrock, 76 Wn.App 848 (1995) and Kinnan v. Jordan, 131 Wn.App 738 (2006) are not persuasive.

VI. Conclusion

In sum, because there are no reasons pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) to accept review, John asks this court to deny Tina's request to accept review.